Job-Embedded Professional Development:

What It Is, Who Is Responsible, and How to Get It Done Well







Issue BriefApril 2010

Andrew Croft
Jane G. Coggshall, Ph.D.
Megan Dolan, Ed.D.
Elizabeth Powers
With Joellen Killion







Job-Embedded Professional Development:

What It Is, Who Is Responsible, and How to Get It Done Well

Issue Brief

April 2010

Andrew Croft

ETS and National Comprehensive Center for Teacher Quality

Jane G. Coggshall, Ph.D.

Learning Point Associates and National Comprehensive Center for Teacher Quality

Megan Dolan, Ed.D.

The Mid-Atlantic Comprehensive Center at The George Washington University Center for Equity and Excellence in Education

Elizabeth Powers

The Mid-Atlantic Comprehensive Center at The George Washington University Center for Equity and Excellence in Education

With

Joellen Killion

National Staff Development Council

Contents

	Pa	ge
Introduction		. 1
What Is Job-Embedded Professional Development?		. 2
What Are the Necessary Conditions for High-Quality Job-Embedded Professional Development?		. 8
Teacher Opportunity to Learn		
Professional Learning in a Community and as a Community		
Facilitator Skills		. 9
How Can State, District, and School Leaders Support High-Quality Job-Embedded Professional Development?		10
State Leaders		
District Leaders		
School Leaders		12
Conclusion	:	13
References		14

Introduction

Featured prominently in recent federal education regulations, the term *job-embedded professional development* has come into increasingly common usage for more than a decade, yet rarely is it explicitly defined. For example, the School Improvement Fund regulations (U.S. Department of Education, 2010b), the State Fiscal Stabilization Fund (SFSF) guidelines (U.S. Department of Education, 2009c), and the Race to the Top grant application (U.S. Department of Education, 2010a) all make reference to this type of professional development but do not provide concrete examples. In addition, guidance for using American Recovery and Reinvestment Act funds to support Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA) Part B and Title I activities encourages the implementation of job-embedded professional development in high-need schools (U.S. Department of Education, 2009a; U.S. Department of Education, 2009b). The National Staff Development Council (2010) also emphasizes the importance of school-based learning and job-embedded coaching as necessary components of effective professional development.

In response to comments on the SFSF proposed regulations regarding job-embedded professional development, U.S. Department of Education officials explained their reasoning:

We believe that the requirement to provide ongoing, high quality, job-embedded professional development to staff in a school is clearly tied to improving instruction in multiple ways. First, the requirement that professional development be "job-embedded" connotes a direct connection between a teacher's work in the classroom and the professional development the teacher receives. (National Archives and Records Administration, 2009, p. 58479)

But what exactly is job-embedded professional development? What types of teacher learning opportunities count as being job embedded? How might job-embedded professional development improve teaching practices and student learning outcomes? What does the research say about it, and how can states and districts implement it well? In this Issue Brief—written in collaboration with the Mid-Atlantic Comprehensive Center and the National Staff Development Council—the National Comprehensive Center for Teacher Quality (TQ Center) intends to answer these important questions with a focus on job-embedded professional development for teachers only (not for other educators such as principals).

What Is Job-Embedded Professional Development?

Job-embedded professional development (JEPD) refers to teacher learning that is grounded in day-to-day teaching practice and is designed to enhance teachers' content-specific instructional practices with the intent of improving student learning (Darling-Hammond & McLaughlin, 1995; Hirsh, 2009). It is primarily school or classroom based and is integrated into the workday, consisting of teachers assessing and finding solutions for authentic and immediate problems of practice as part of a cycle of continuous improvement (Hawley & Valli, 1999; National Staff Development Council, 2010). JEPD is a shared, ongoing process that is locally rooted and makes a direct connection between learning and application in daily practice, thereby requiring active teacher involvement in cooperative, inquiry-based work (Hawley & Valli, 1999). High-quality JEPD also is aligned with state standards for student academic achievement and any related local educational agency and school improvement goals (Hirsh, 2009).

Table 1 provides some examples of job-embedded professional development that can be undertaken alone, with one-on-one guidance, and in teams. Note that JEPD varies in the extent to which it is more or less situated inside classrooms and schools. The types of professional development included in the far-right column of Table 1 may be very valuable learning opportunities for teachers; however, because they are not focused on the immediate work of teaching the students to whom the teachers are assigned, they are not considered job embedded.

Table 1. Examples in a Range of Job-Embedded Learning Opportunities

		Not Job-Embedded		
	Takes place in the classroom, in real time, with current students, and is centered on issues of actual practice	Takes place in the classroom, nearly real time, away from students, and is centered on issues of actual practice	Takes place in the school, shortly before or after instruction, away from students, and is centered on issues of actual practice	Takes place in or outside the school, removed from instruction, away from students, and is centered on issues of likely practice
Alone	_	_	A teacher analyzes the work of two focus students and writes about it for his portfolio.	A teacher reads a professional journal article describing evidence-based reading strategies but finds no specific meaningful opportunities to apply it with his students, nor to reflect on its application in his classroom.
			A teacher reads about a reading strategy in a professional journal and applies it in her classroom. She reflects on her experience and blogs about it in her online journal.	
With One-on-One Guidance	During a struggling teacher's mathematics lesson, an instructional coach observes the teacher and interacts with both the teacher and the students, providing useful questions and clarification of teacher directions during the lesson as appropriate. (Prior to the lesson, the coach discussed this approach with the teacher and was invited to jump in as needed.) A mentor, watching a beginning teacher implement a lesson on a closed-loop video link provides real-time guidance to the teacher via a headphone.	A mentor conferences with a beginning teacher during the planning of and after observing a lesson. She supports the teacher in describing the strengths and weaknesses in his instructional planning and implementation, prompting him to incorporate changes in his instruction the following day.	A teacher and her coach meet to review a lesson the coach observed the day before; they discuss how to better manage the students' small-group work, and the teacher agrees to try these new strategies. A teacher e-mails a video clip of his instruction to his "virtual tutor"—a university faculty member in another state. In a video conference, the teacher and tutor discuss the clip, identifying what worked and what could be improved.	A beginning teacher and her mentor read a case study of a struggling new teacher in another school. In the teachers' lounge, they discuss the similarities and differences between the school context depicted in the case study and their school's context. Although the discussion enriches the teacher's foundation of instructional knowledge, it does not provide immediately applicable practices for the teacher to use and on which she can reflect.

	Job-Embedded			Not Job-Embedded
	Takes place in the classroom, in real time, with current students, and is centered on issues of actual practice	Takes place in the classroom, nearly real time, away from students, and is centered on issues of actual practice	Takes place in the school, shortly before or after instruction, away from students, and is centered on issues of actual practice	Takes place in or outside the school, removed from instruction, away from students, and is centered on issues of likely practice
In Teams	An instructional facilitator conducts a demonstration lesson. A group of teachers observe the lesson and take notes describing and analyzing what they see. During small-group work, the teachers talk with students about what they are learning. Just after the students leave, the teachers discuss the specific teaching techniques the facilitator used during the lesson as she assessed students' understanding through questioning.	Fourth-grade teachers meet with a lesson study facilitator to develop a science lesson they all plan to implement the following week. One teacher volunteers to implement it in his classroom first while the other fourth-grade teachers observe how it goes. After the observation, the teachers adjust their lesson plans based on what they learned and consider applications for other lessons.	In their professional learning community, teachers analyze their students' test scores and discuss needed changes to their instruction as well as needs for additional support and resources. During her planning period, a teacher posts a question to her statesponsored online learning community about her students' continued failure to learn how to multiply fractions. Several teachers from across the state offer strategies and resources. The teacher tries to implement their suggestions, posts her experience to the online community later that day, and receives additional feedback.	During the teachers' monthly faculty meeting, an instructional leader describes the research on various classroom management techniques. Middle school mathematics teachers attend a two-week summer institute at a university to develop their knowledge of algebra and algebra instruction. As part of the course, they work one-on-one with summer school students to practice what they are learning.

The description of JEPD provided in this Issue Brief is very closely aligned with the reform-oriented professional development described in the literature (Ball & Cohen, 1999; Darling-Hammond & McLaughlin, 1995; Desimone, Porter, Garet, Yoon, & Birman, 2002; Peneul, Fishman, Yamaguchi, & Gallagher, 2007; Yoon, Duncan, Lee, Scarloss, & Shapley, 2007). Some examples of reform-based professional development can occur outside of schools. In JEPD, however, teachers learn in the course of their school day, so JEPD is reform-based professional development in which the majority of teacher learning takes place in schools. It is professional development situated *in* schools that is always *about* the current work of schools.

Although JEPD can be undertaken by a teacher alone, a view of professional knowledge as social, situated, and distributed among colleagues undergirds JEPD (Putnam & Borko, 2000). In other words, in JEPD, teachers' professional development is largely a product of formal and informal social interactions among the teachers, situated in the context of their school and the classrooms in which they teach and distributed across the entire staff. If implemented and supported effectively, JEPD has the potential to contribute to the development of all teachers within a team or school by generating conversations among teachers about concrete acts of teaching and student learning (Wei, Darling-Hammond, Andree, Richardson, & Orphanos, 2009).

In JEPD, teachers primarily draw from the professional knowledge that exists in their own school and among their colleagues (Wei et al., 2009), which is informed by other professional development opportunities that help teachers learn research-based practices (Killion & Roy, 2009; Lieberman, 2000). JEPD may consist of departmental, cross-departmental, grade-level, or "vertical" (i.e., across grade levels) teams of teachers engaging in "interactive, integrative, practical, and results-oriented" work (Fogarty & Pete, 2009, p. 32). Activities include designs such as mentoring; coaching; lesson study; action research; peer observation; examining student work; and virtual coaching, which consists of teachers using a "virtual bug-in-ear" technology to receive feedback from a coaching teacher during real-time instruction (Rock, Gregg, Gable, & Zigmond, 2009). Professional learning communities (i.e., structured time for teachers to come together and discuss issues of teaching practice and student learning) can be forums for job-embedded professional development.

Table 2 briefly describes the formats in which JEPD can occur; these professional development processes become JEPD if they meet the definition indicated on page 2 of this Issue Brief. The closer the learning activity is to the actual work of teachers in classrooms with their current students, the more job embedded it is.

Table 2. Formats for Job-Embedded Professional Development and Related Research Findings

Action Research. Teachers select an aspect of their teaching to systematically investigate, such as their wait time during questioning. They record data and consider theories from the research literature, drawing conclusions about how teaching is influencing learning and vice versa, and informing future instructional decisions. The primary intent of action research is to improve the teachers' immediate classroom teaching; secondarily, if applicable, the intent is to generalize it across other contexts in the school or beyond (Cochran-Smith & Lytle, 1990)

Case Discussions. Case discussions allow teachers to have a more critical analysis of teaching because they are not in the act itself (LeFevre, 2004). Formats vary from written to video to multimedia, with varying controls over content to match the purpose of the case study—for example, an exemplar of teaching decisions—or to reveal student thinking or missed opportunity. One strength of video case discussions, in particular, is the opportunity to analyze student thinking at a deep level (Sherin & Han, 2004; van Es & Sherin, 2008). Case discussions, when they take place among a school's faculty and are situated in actual practice, are a process for JEPD.

Coaching. Coaching differs from mentoring in its focus on the technical aspects of instruction, rather than the larger personal and nonacademic features of teaching (Rowley, 2005). An instructional coach provides ongoing consistent follow-up by way of demonstrations, observations, and conversations with teachers as they implement new strategies and knowledge. Typically, instructional coaches have expertise in the applicable subject area and related teaching strategies. Some coaches continue to teach part-time; some come from the school; and others travel throughout the district, working with teachers. The National Staff Development Council offers multiple resources for instructional coaching, including publications and interactive online tools (http://www.nsdc.org).

Critical Friends Groups. Teachers meet and analyze each others' work, including artifacts such as student work, a lesson plan, or assessment. They also may discuss challenges they are facing with presenting the subject matter or with meeting a particular student's needs. See Norman, Golian, and Hooker (2005) for illustrative examples.

Data Teams/Assessment Development. Teachers meet together and analyze results from standardized tests or teacher-created assessments. Together, they formulate what the evidence from the data tells them about student learning and discuss teaching approaches to improve student achievement. Teachers also may work on refining assessments to gather more useful student data.

Examining Student Work/Tuning Protocol. Examining student work enables teachers to develop a common understanding of good work, identify student misconceptions, and evaluate their teaching methods. Through the tuning protocol, teachers share student work (or their assignments and rubrics), describing the context in which the work is used; other teachers ask questions and then provide feedback on how the work may be fine-tuned to improve student learning. See Blythe, Allen, and Powell (1999) and Brown-Easton (1999) for more details.

Implementing Individual Professional Growth/Learning Plans. Alongside an instructional leader such as a master teacher or the principal, or as members of a professional learning community, teachers develop their own professional growth plans in order to understand what professional development opportunities they should engage in, as well as to track their growth in a competency area. They can choose to participate in JEPD to ensure their progress.

Lesson Study. During sessions known as "research lessons," teachers alternate in preparing a lesson to demonstrate a specific teaching and learning goal (e.g., help a student master a mathematics concept, conduct a peer review of writing within groups). Other teachers observe and document what they see through video, a word processor, or pencil and paper. After the lesson, the teachers meet and discuss the strengths of the lesson and make suggestions for improvement. Sometimes, the lesson is revised and presented again. See Stepanek, Appel, Leong, Mangan, and Mitchell (2006) and Lewis, Perry, and Murata (2006) for practical implications.

Mentoring. Increasingly implemented as part of the induction phase for new teachers, mentoring may develop into coaching or peer support relationships as teachers gain experience. Best practice includes matching teachers of the same content area, establishing common planning time, and structuring time for further collaboration. Mutual observance of classroom teaching is usually included. See Portner (2005) or visit the New Teacher Center website (http://newteachercenter.org/) for more information. When situated in a new teacher's actual classroom practice, mentoring is a process for JEPD.

Portfolios. Teachers assemble lesson plans, student work, reflective writing, and other materials that are used to prepare for teaching or are used directly in the classroom. This body of work can be used to track a teacher's development in a competency area or for reference by other teachers. Teachers also report that developing a portfolio is a powerful learning activity as they reflect on their teaching practice in light of standards (Gearhart & Osmundson, 2009). Presenting one's portfolio to a group of one's peers or meeting with a coach can make portfolios a powerful venue for JEPD.

Professional Learning Communities. Teachers collaborate to analyze their practice and discuss new strategies and tactics, testing them in the classroom and reporting the results to each other. Hord (1997) lists five attributes of effective professional learning communities: supportive and shared leadership, collective creativity, shared values and vision, supportive conditions, and shared personal practice. Professional learning communities redress teacher isolation, create shared teacher responsibility for all students, and expose teachers to instructional strategies or knowledge they did not have access to previously. Such communities can be a venue for JEPD as well as other forms of reform-based professional development.

Study Groups. In small groups or as a faculty, teachers generate topics for study related to school improvement goals or student data and then read and react to educational research or other literature on teaching and student learning. They engage in structured dialogue or discussion that explores issues deeply and considers the implications for school or classroom practices.

Note. For more information on each of these formats for job-embedded professional development, consult Brown-Easton (2008) and Wei et al. (2009).

What Are the Necessary Conditions for High-Quality Job-Embedded Professional Development?

Much of the research on professional development for teachers is descriptive without causal investigation, making it hard to pinpoint what factors contribute to highly effective JEPD (i.e., JEPD that leads to improved practice, which leads to improved student learning outcomes). Meta-analyses have identified very few studies—out of hundreds—that provide empirically derived support for the positive impact of professional development on student achievement (Blank & de la Alas, 2009; Yoon et al., 2007). Although more rigorous research is needed, including both experimental and nonexperimental research, the existing research base does provide important guidance for the design of high-quality JEPD. (See Penuel et al., 2007, for an example of an empirical study on teacher professional development.)

Teacher Opportunity to Learn

Similar to students as learners, teachers as learners benefit from multiple opportunities to learn. Those opportunities are created when teachers are afforded the time, space, structures, and support to engage in JEPD. District and school administration can provide this support by eliminating excessive paperwork and other noninstructional duties for teachers; coordinating teacher schedules; clarifying goals, outcomes, and priorities of the JEPD; and assisting in collection of valid student and teacher performance measures (Hawley & Valli, 1999).

Moreover, the school's professional culture significantly affects teachers' opportunity to learn. School leaders are instrumental in fostering an organizational culture of continuous learning and teamwork through venues such as professional learning communities and professional norms, including, for example, open-door policies for observing each others' classrooms. In addition, JEPD produces enduring effects when it is matched to the school curriculum, state standards, and assessment of student learning; is compatible with daily school operations; and is framed to address the particular instructional needs of a teacher's given assignment (Blank & de la Alas, 2009; Wei et al., 2009).

Research-based knowledge about how adults learn also should inform the design of any effective professional development effort, particularly JEPD (National Staff Development Council, 2001). Adults learn best when they are self-directed, building new knowledge upon preexisting knowledge, and aware of the relevance and personal significance of what they are learning—grounding theoretical knowledge in actual events (Bransford, Brown, & Cocking, 2000; Knowles, Holton, & Swanson, 1998). Therefore, effective professional development should begin with an analysis of school needs in terms of both student and teacher learning based on formative evidence of their performance. Through an analysis of these data, learning goals can be developed and aligned with JEPD methods. Powerful and practical connections also can be made between district and school improvement plans and JEPD, resulting in greater coherence across the system. These locally based plans show that JEPD is highly conducive to adult learning through its focus on concrete acts of teaching that are highly relevant to teachers while requiring their active participation and construction of professional knowledge.

Professional Learning in a Community and as a Community

Evaluating and solving problems of practice in order to improve a teacher's practice, which is at the heart of JEPD, is usually best accomplished through sustained collaboration in identifying and supporting the implementation of evidence-based instructional practices. Teachers' experiences with collaborative problem solving can be mixed; under some circumstances, it may merely lead to perpetuating existing practice. Done well, however, it holds the power to lead to the building of collective knowledge and expertise as well as a shared understanding of good practice (Hawley & Valli, 1999).

To help ensure positive outcomes of collaboration, researchers suggest providing teachers with guided opportunities to develop their collaborative skills, including conflict resolution, problem-solving strategies, consensus building, and other meeting skills (Hord, Rutherford, Huling-Austin, & Hall, 1998; National Staff Development Council, 2001). While the teachers are congregated together, the disclosure of full expectations—including roles and responsibilities for each teacher—is necessary for successful JEPD (Fogarty & Pete, 2009). The development of norms for collaboration and the use of conversation protocols can benefit all participants in a learning community. Teachers are each others' main resource for professional learning in JEPD, making successful collaboration key to professional growth.

Facilitator Skills

The quality of JEPD depends in significant part on the skills of JEPD facilitators. Facilitators may have a variety of formal roles and titles; they can be principals or assistant principals, mentors, department chairs, instructional coaches, teacher leaders, subject-area specialists, or teachers. In addition to having expertise in instruction, JEPD facilitators also must have effective interpersonal and group-process skills, which can be acquired through targeted professional development. These skills are critical because JEPD facilitators serve as catalysts for professional learning, supporting teachers in conducting inquiries and team collaboration while strengthening the connection of teacher learning to student learning.

JEPD facilitators need to know what excellent teaching would look like for their colleagues in their classrooms while supporting teachers in improving their practice. For example, one strategy consists of a JEPD facilitator teaching an example of a class lesson to colleagues, making explicit the decision-making process during the lesson. Finally, JEPD facilitators themselves should have structured opportunities to learn from educators serving in the same role in other schools or districts to improve the quality of the JEPD they are providing to school faculty. (See West and Saphier, 2009, for a discussion on how districts can support instructional leaders.)

How Can State, District, and School Leaders Support High-Quality Job-Embedded Professional Development?

State Leaders

Working with governors and state legislatures, some state education agencies (SEAs) are developing and implementing plans to ensure that struggling schools have high-quality JEPD for their teachers, principals, and other instructional leaders at the school site. To support the success of that work as well as provide guidance to school districts across the state as they support effective educator learning opportunities, SEA leaders can do the following:

- Help build a shared vocabulary around what is meant by job-embedded and professional development through regular communication vehicles (e.g., school leader trainings, website materials, promulgation of professional development standards, monitoring/ technical assistance visits). Use this Issue Brief as prereading material for meetings or trainings.
- Provide technical assistance to districts for choosing high-quality approaches to JEPD. Promulgate guidance on proper use of funds for JEPD and other forms of highquality professional development through targeted communication efforts and relationship building.
- Monitor implementation of JEPD as required by federal grant regulations. Move beyond
 compliance monitoring to require the integration of high-quality JEPD in school or district
 improvement plans to improve student performance in all schools—especially in lowperforming schools.
- Identify successful JEPD practices within the state that can provide models to other districts and schools.
- Align teacher licensure and relicensure requirements with high-quality JEPD. For
 example, consider building a focus on teacher candidates' readiness to participate
 in collaborative professional learning into initial licensure requirements. For another
 example, rather than requiring teachers to obtain continuing education credits or
 graduate credits that are neither job-embedded nor related to improving teacher
 effectiveness for relicensure or advanced licensure, instead require teachers to
 participate in JEPD venues such as individual professional development plans,
 completion of a high-quality induction program, lesson study, and other pursuits.
- Build comprehensive data systems to inform decisions about JEPD, making data
 available to researchers to advance the field. It is essential to develop and implement
 record-keeping systems to track the impact of JEPD on teachers' practice and student
 learning. Such data systems should include, at a minimum, data on teachers'
 performance, student achievement linked to teachers, types and duration of JEPD
 utilized by teachers at each school, and teacher retention information.

District Leaders

JEPD development should be a key part of districts' long-term strategic planning for talent development and human capital management. Toward that end, district leaders can do the following:

- Engage in long-term strategic planning for human capital development that includes hiring teachers who are prepared to engage in collaborative professional learning and developing effective teachers through thoughtful use of JEPD, while promoting continuous learning for all teachers. Consider making JEPD a part of the district evaluation system, and support principals in the implementation of that system.
- Work to develop a school culture among teachers in which continued learning is considered an essential aspect of professional practice. Make this goal a part of the teacher contract, memorandum of understanding, the district's performance system, district employment policies, school handbooks and policies, and similar items.
- Offer incentives and supports for schools to provide and evaluate JEPD opportunities for their teachers. This approach should include supporting schools in using data on student performance and current teacher practice to plan for JEPD.
- Help principals identify effective instructional facilitators through principal professional development and performance review discussions. Engage principals in JEPD at their schools.
- Help principals plan and support JEPD implementation, establishing procedures to support school JEPD facilitators to advance teaching and learning and meet school improvement goals. Monitor implementation of JEPD in school walk-throughs.
- Help principals align teacher evaluation with JEPD, providing tools codeveloped with teachers unions, universities, or other educational organizations that support the ability of principals to recognize how teachers might strengthen their practice through participation in JEPD.
- Help principals provide teacher collaborative learning time that is common to all teachers, distinct from planning time, and protected from administrative duties. Ensure additional supports for JEPD as well.
- Create policies that allow teachers to advance as instructional leaders, master teachers, and JEPD facilitators while continuing to teach students for part of their workday or week.

School Leaders

In raising student achievement, school leaders are only as effective as their faculty. To support the continued learning and effectiveness of teachers, school leaders can do the following:

- Emphasize the importance of continued learning for all faculty through effective forms of JEPD.
- Work to develop a school culture among teachers in which continued learning
 is considered an essential aspect of professional practice. Emphasize this goal at
 faculty meetings, upon hiring new teachers, and during formal and informal meetings
 with teachers.
- Identify and support effective instructional facilitators among the faculty. Provide these
 facilitators with specific training for collaborating with adults, ongoing resource support,
 and incentives, so that they can facilitate effective JEPD for their colleagues.
- Provide common teacher learning time, distinct from planning time. Release teachers
 as appropriate to visit other teachers' classrooms, engage in collaborative teaching, and
 participate in other collaborative activities.
- Use student performance data to inform decisions about JEPD.

Creating a system to support high-quality JEPD requires common effort across all three levels: states, districts, and schools. The most successful implementation of JEPD occurs when state, district, and school leaders collaborate to promote a culture of continuous learning for all educators; acknowledge successful teachers and teacher leaders; and connect teacher evaluation and evidence to JEPD. Creating the school culture, support structures, systems, and time is necessary to make JEPD an intrinsic part of each teacher's workday.

Conclusion

Learning to do a complicated job well requires constant scholarship, taking place both in academic classrooms as well as through guided, on-the-job practice. The work of teaching—whether it's helping a distracted 6-year-old recognize letters or a struggling 16-year-old find the derivative of a function—requires extensive knowledge of learners and learning, teaching techniques, behavior management, and the content itself. Such professional knowledge requires not only years to master fully but also the willingness to change as the evidence base of effective teaching grows, as curricula change, and as the needs of learners evolve. Given the imperative for teachers to continually hone their knowledge, skills, and practices, teaching has been aptly called the "learning profession" (Darling-Hammond & Sykes, 1999). Job-embedded professional development—skillfully implemented and supported by federal, state, and local policy—constitutes a powerful lever to advance student learning.

References

- Ball, D., & Cohen, D. (1999). Developing practice, developing practitioners: Toward a practice-based theory of professional education. In L. Darling-Hammond & G. Sykes (Eds.), *Teaching as the learning profession: Handbook of policy and practice* (pp. 3–32). San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Blank, R. K., & de la Alas, N. (2009). Effects of teacher professional development on gains in student achievement: How meta analysis provides scientific evidence useful to education leaders. Washington, DC: Council of Chief State School Officers.
- Blythe, T., Allen, D., & Powell, B. S. (1999). *Looking together at student work*. New York: Teachers College Press.
- Bransford, J. D., Brown, A. L., & Cocking. R. R. (Eds.). (2000). How people learn: Brain, mind, experience, and school. Washington, DC: National Academy Press.
- Brown-Easton, L. (1999). Tuning protocols. *Journal of Staff Development*, 20(3), 54–55.
- Brown-Easton, L. (2008). *Powerful designs for professional learning* (2nd ed.). Oxford, OH: National Staff Development Council.
- Cochran-Smith, M., & Lytle, S. L. (1990). Research on teaching and teacher research: The issues that divide. *Educational Researcher*, 19(2), 2–11.
- Darling-Hammond, L., & McLaughlin, M. W. (1995). Policies that support professional development in an era of reform. *Phi Delta Kappan*, 76(8), 597–604.
- Darling-Hammond, L., & Sykes, G. (Eds.). (1999). Teaching as the learning profession: Handbook of policy and practice. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Desimone, L., Porter, A., Garet, M., Yoon, K., & Birman, B. (2002). Effects of professional development on teachers' instruction: Results from a three-year longitudinal study. *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis*, 24(2), 81–112.
- Fogarty, R., & Pete, B. (2009). Professional learning 101: A syllabus of seven protocols. *Phi Delta Kappan*, 91(4), 32–34.
- Gearhart, M., & Osmundson, E. (2009). Assessment portfolios as opportunities for teacher learning. *Educational Assessment*, 14(1), 1–24.
- Hawley, W. D., & Valli, L. (1999). The essentials of effective professional development: A new consensus. In L. Darling-Hammond & G. Sykes (Eds.), *Teaching as the learning profession: Handbook of policy and practice* (pp. 127–150). San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Hirsh, S. (2009). A new definition. Journal of Staff Development, 30(4), 10-16.
- Hord, S. (1997). *Professional learning communities: Communities of continuous inquiry and improvement*. Austin, TX: Southwest Educational Development Laboratory.
- Hord, S. M., Rutherford, W. L., Huling-Austin, L., & Hall, G. E. (1998). *Taking charge of change*. Austin, Texas: Southwest Educational Development Laboratory.

- Killion, J., & Roy, P. (2009). Becoming a learning school. Oxford, OH: National Staff Development Council.
- Knowles, M. S., Holton, E. F., & Swanson, R. A. (1998). *The adult learner: The definitive classic in adult education and human resource development* (5th ed.). Woburn, MA: Butterworth-Heinemann.
- LeFevre, D. M. (2004). Designing for teacher learning: Video-based curriculum design. In J. Brophy (Ed.), *Using video in teacher education: Advances in research on teaching* (Vol. 10, pp. 235–258). Amsterdam, Holland: Elsevier.
- Lewis, C., Perry, R., & Murata, A. (2006). How should research contribute to instructional improvement? The case of lesson study. *Educational Researcher*, 35(3), 3–14.
- Lieberman, A. (2000). Networks as learning communities: Shaping the future of teacher development. *Journal of Teacher Education*, 51(3), 221–227.
- National Archives and Records Administration. (2009, November 12). Department of Education, State Fiscal Stabilization Fund program: Final rule. *Federal Register*, 74(217), 58479–58525. Retrieved March 16, 2010, from http://edocket.access.gpo.gov/2009/pdf/E9-27161.pdf
- National Staff Development Council. (2001). *Standards for staff development* [Website]. Retrieved March 17, 2010, from http://www.nsdc.org/standards/
- National Staff Development Council. (2010). *NSDC's definition of professional development* [Website]. Retrieved March 17, 2010, from http://nsdc.org/standfor/definition.cfm
- Norman, P. J., Golian, K., & Hooker, H. (2005). Professional development schools and critical friends groups: Supporting student, novice, and teacher learning. *New Educator*, 1(4), 273–286.
- Penuel, W. R., Fishman, B. J., Yamaguchi, R., & Gallagher, L. P. (2007). What makes professional development effective? Strategies that foster curriculum implementation. *American Educational Research Journal*, 44(4), 921–958.
- Portner, H. (Ed.). (2005). Teacher mentoring and induction. Thousand Oaks, CA: Corwin Press.
- Putnam, R. T., & Borko, H. (2000). What do new views of knowledge and thinking have to say about research on teacher learning? *Educational Researcher*, 29(1), 4–15.
- Rock, M. L., Gregg, J., Gable, R. A., & Zigmond, N. P. (2009). Virtual coaching for novice teachers. *Phi Delta Kappan*, 91(2), 36–41.
- Rowley, J. (2005). Mentor teachers as instructional coaches. In H. Portner (Ed.), *Teacher mentoring and induction* (pp. 109–127). Thousand Oaks, CA: Corwin Press.
- Sherin, M., & Han, S. (2004). Teacher learning in the context of a video club. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 20, 163–183.
- Stepanek, J., Appel, G., Leong, M., Mangan, M. T., & Mitchell, M. (2006). *Leading lesson study: A practical guide for teachers and facilitators*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Corwin Press.

- U.S. Department of Education. (2009a). American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009: Using ARRA funds provided through Part B of the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA) to drive school reform and improvement. Washington, DC: Author. Retrieved March 17, 2010, from http://www2.ed.gov/policy/gen/leg/recovery/guidance/idea-b-reform.pdf
- U.S. Department of Education. (2009b). *Guidance: Using Title I, Part A ARRA funds for grants to local educational agencies to strengthen education, drive reform, and improve results for students*. Washington, DC: Author. Retrieved March 17, 2010, from http://www2.ed.gov/policy/gen/leg/recovery/guidance/titlei-reform.pdf
- U.S. Department of Education. (2009c). *State fiscal stabilization fund* [Website]. Retrieved March 17, 2010, from http://www2.ed.gov/policy/gen/leg/recovery/factsheet/stabilization-fund.html
- U.S. Department of Education. (2010a). *Race to the top fund: Purpose* [Website]. Retrieved March 17, 2010, from http://www2.ed.gov/programs/racetothetop/index.html
- U.S. Department of Education. (2010b). *School improvement fund: Purpose* [Website]. Retrieved March 17, 2010, from http://www.ed.gov/programs/sif/index.html
- van Es, E., & Sherin, M. (2008). Mathematics teachers' "learning to notice" in the context of a video club. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 24, 244–276.
- Wei, R. C., Darling-Hammond, L., Andree, A., Richardson, N., & Orphanos, S. (2009). *Professional learning in the learning profession: A status report on teacher development in the United States and abroad* (Technical Report). Dallas, TX: National Staff Development Council. Retrieved March 17, 2010, from http://www.nsdc.org/news/NSDCstudytechnicalreport2009.pdf
- West, L., & Saphier, J. (2009). How coaches can maximize student learning. *Phi Delta Kappan*, 91, 46–50.
- Yoon, K. S., Duncan, T., Lee, S. W., Scarloss, B., & Shapley, K. L. (2007). Reviewing the evidence on how teacher professional development affects student achievement (Issues & Answers report, REL 2007–No. 033). Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Education, Institute of Education Sciences, National Center for Education Evaluation and Regional Assistance, Regional Educational Laboratory Southwest. Retrieved March 17, 2010, from http://ies.ed.gov/ncee/edlabs/regions/southwest/pdf/REL_2007033.pdf

Acknowledgments

The development of this Issue Brief was an iterative and collaborative process among the main contributors representing the TQ Center, the Mid-Atlantic Comprehensive Center, and the National Staff Development Council. The authors gratefully acknowledge the expert advice provided by those who reviewed this brief: Laura Goe, Ph.D., of ETS; Tricia Coulter, Ph.D., of Learning Point Associates; and Claudette Rasmussen, of Learning Point Associates.

In addition, special thanks go to current and former REL Mid-Atlantic colleagues Caitlyn Howley, Ph.D., of ICF International, and Jennifer Bausmith, Ph.D., of The College Board, for their ideas and research support at the outset of this project.



1100 17th Street NW, Suite 500 Washington, DC 20036-4632 877-322-8700 • 202-223-6690 www.tqsource.org

Copyright © 2010 National Comprehensive Center for Teacher Quality, sponsored under government cooperative agreement number S283B050051. All rights reserved.

This work was originally produced in whole or in part by the National Comprehensive Center for Teacher Quality with funds from the U.S. Department of Education under cooperative agreement number S283B050051. The content does not necessarily reflect the position or policy of the Department of Education, nor does mention or visual representation of trade names, commercial products, or organizations imply endorsement by the federal government.

The National Comprehensive Center for Teacher Quality is a collaborative effort of ETS, Learning Point Associates, and Vanderbilt University.





